**RECEIVED**

**Aug 23 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2018-CP-23-04516  
Appellate Case No. 2021-001461

---

Ironwork Productions, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Bobcat of Greenville, LLC, and Bobcat Company, Inc., Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Adam C. Bach (S.C. Bar No. 74885)  
J. Patrick Bradley (S.C. Bar No. 103608)  
ELLER TONNSEN BACH, LLC  
1306 South Church Street  
Greenville, SC 29605  
(864) 236-5013  
*abach@etblawfirm.com*  
*pbradley@etblawfirm.com*

Attorneys for Appellant

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. IN THIS CASE, WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT WILLFULLY OR REPEATEDLY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY ORDERS NOR EVIDENCE OF BAD FAITH, MISCONDUCT, WILLFUL DISOBEDIENCE OR A CALLOUS DISREGARD FOR THE RIGHTS OF OTHER LITIGANTS, DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE AS A DISCOVERY SANCTION?
  
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE AS TO CLAIMS MADE AGAINST A PARTY WHO HAD NOT SERVED DISCOVERY REQUESTS, FILED A MOTION TO COMPEL, OR SOUGHT A DISCOVERY SANCTION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an order of the circuit court, dated October 25, 2019 (hereinafter the “Order”), dismissing Appellant Ironwork Productions, LLC’s complaint against both defendants in this lawsuit as a discovery sanction. (*See* R. pp. 4-6). The Order dismissing Appellant’s complaint was due to a purported five month delay in responding to supplemental discovery requests from one defendant, and a purported five month delay in adequately responding to the first set of discovery requests of that same defendant. (*See id*; *see also* R. pp. 52-165). Appellant seeks review of the circuit court’s order dismissing its complaint against both defendants with prejudice.

The underlying action involves a dispute between Appellant Ironwork Productions, LLC<sup>1</sup> (“Appellant” or “Ironwork”) and Bobcat of Greenville, LLC and Bobcat Company, Inc. (collectively “Respondents”) related to Appellant’s purchase of a Bobcat T869 Compact Track Loader (VIN: B47C11710). (*See* R. pp. 11-16). The complaint was filed on August 29, 2018 by attorney Edward Delane Rosemond (“Mr. Rosemond” or “Appellant’s former attorney”), Appellant’s former attorney. (*See id.*). Mr. Rosemond was recently suspended from the practice of law by the South Carolina Supreme Court for matters unrelated to the present appeal.<sup>2</sup>

In the complaint, Appellant asserts claims against Respondents for breach of implied warranties, breach of express warranties, a violation of the Magnuson-Moss Act, and seeks damages resulting from the sale of a Bobcat T869 Compact Track Loader. (*See id.*). On

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant notes that its name is spelled incorrectly in the caption of this case, filed by Appellant’s prior attorney and thereafter others. Appellant’s legal name is Ironworx Productions, LLC and is an LLC incorporated in and in good standing with the State of South Carolina.

<sup>2</sup> By order of the Supreme Court of South Carolina on March 10, 2022, Edward Delane Rosemond was suspended from the practice of law in this state upon request of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. *In re Edward Delane Rosemond*, 2022-03-10-01 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed March 10, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 12 – 13).

December 3, 2018, Respondent Bobcat of Greenville (hereinafter “Acme”) answered Appellant’s complaint and stated it was incorrectly identified in this lawsuit and its proper name is Acme Operations, LLC d/b/a Bobcat of Greenville. (R pp. 17, 20). On December 7, 2018 Respondent Bobcat Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Clark”) answered Appellant’s complaint and stated it was incorrectly identified in this lawsuit and its proper name is Clark Equipment Company d/b/a Bobcat Company. (R. p. 21).

The parties engaged in written discovery. Dissatisfied with Appellant’s responses to its first set of discovery requests and failure to respond to supplemental discovery requests, Clark filed one discovery motion—a motion to compel and for sanctions. The court held one hearing on the motion, which resulted in complete dismissal of the complaint. (*See* R. pp. 52-165; R. pp. 1-3; R. p. 656; R. pp. 661-664; R. pp. 4-6; R. pp. 179-633).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The history with respect to discovery requests, responses, motions, and the single hearing leading up to the order on appeal is set forth below:<sup>3</sup>

- According to Clark:
  - o On January 25, 2019, Clark served Appellant’s former attorney Mr. Rosemond with Clark’s First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production to Plaintiff. (R. pp. 31-48).

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant notes this timeline is derived exclusively from filings in this matter prior to undersigned counsel’s appearance on behalf of Appellant, which occurred days after the circuit court entered its October 25, 2019 Order. The bulk of this timeline is based on Clark’s motions, attachments, and supporting documents filed in this case. Appellant is unable to discern what portions of these filings—or what other documents or correspondence related to them—may exist in Mr. Rosemond’s files as he has not provided any documents to Appellant since his termination.

- On March 6, 2019, counsel for Clark emailed Mr. Rosemond inquiring about the status of Appellant’s responses to Clark’s first set of discovery requests and informed Mr. Rosemond of Clark’s intention to file a motion to compel within a week if the responses were not received. (R. pp. 49-51).
- Via email response on the same day, March 6, 2019, Mr. Rosemond advised he “will look at them and get back to you before Friday” of that week, March 8, 2019. (*Id.*).
- On March 18, 2019, Clark filed a Motion to Compel Discovery Responses from Appellant. (*See* R. pp. 29-51). According to this motion, Clark had not received any discovery responses from Mr. Rosemond as of March 18, 2019.
- According to Clark:
  - A hearing on Clark’s March 18, 2019 motion to compel was set for April 3, 2019. (*See* R. p. 53; R. pp. 101–140).
  - At 9:55pm on April 2, 2019, Mr. Rosemond emailed Clark’s counsel responses to Clark’s first set of discovery responses. (*Id.*).
  - Clark’s counsel “cancelled the hearing on its Motion to Compel” because Mr. Rosemond “had produced at least minimal responses.”<sup>4</sup> (*Id.*).
- On May 16, 2019, according to Clark:
  - Clark sent Mr. Rosemond a letter regarding the sufficiency of Appellant’s discovery responses and outlined Clark’s position that “some of the responses need to be clarified or supplemented.” (*See* R. pp. 53 – 54; R. pp. 141 – 146).
  - In addition, Clark served its Second Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production. (*See* R. p. 54; *see also* R. pp. 147 – 161).
  - The same day, Mr. Rosemond responded to the letter and second set of discovery requests advising Clark that Mr. Rosemond would “work on this next week.”<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> These purported “minimal responses” were actually thirty-six (36) pages of written responses to Clark’s first interrogatories; it is unclear if any document production was served at this time. (*See* R. pp. 103 – 138). However, Clark appears to acknowledge documents were originally served by Appellant in response to Clark’s first set of discovery requests. (*See* R. pp. 422 – 613).

(See R. p. 54; *see also* R. pp. 162 – 163).

- Two months later, according to Clark:
  - o Counsel for Clark emailed Mr. Rosemond on July 15, 2019 regarding the status of Mr. Rosemond’s responses to Clark’s May 16, 2019 deficiency letter regarding Appellant’s responses to Clark’s first set of discovery requests and advising of Clark’s intention to file a motion to compel the same if responses were not received by July 22, 2019. (See R. p. 54; *see also* R. p. 162).
  - o On July 16, 2019, Mr. Rosemond replied to Clark’s counsel that “It’s going in the mail today.” (See R. p. 54; *see also* R. p. 162).
  - o On August 15, 2019, one month after Mr. Rosemond advised that Appellant’s supplemental responses to Clark’s first set of discovery requests were going to be put in the mail to Clark, Clark asserts it “never received any such responses.” (See R. p. 54).
  - o On August 5, 2019, Clark’s counsel emailed Mr. Rosemond inquiring about the status of Mr. Rosemond’s responses to Clark’s second set of interrogatories and requests for production to Appellant served on or about May 16, 2019 and advising of Clark’s intention to file a motion to compel if responses were not received within five days (by August 10, 2019). (See R. pp. 54-55; *see also* R. p. 165).

---

<sup>5</sup> In Mr. Rosemond’s May 16, 2019 email to Clark’s counsel (which was not fully quoted in Clark’s August 15, 2019 Motion for Sanctions and Motion to Compel), he appears to expressly invite Clark’s counsel to discuss a plan for additional discovery matters—like scheduling depositions—given Mr. Rosemond’s availability from June to August of 2019; Mr. Rosemond also appears to actively plan to meet with Appellant to work on additional written discovery matters propounded by Clark in its May 16, 2019 correspondence and its second set of requests:

[Counsel] – Thanks for the letter. I will work on this next week. Also if you want to look at dates for depositions let (sic) start talking now because I’m gone a lot in June, July and first part of August.

Delane

Denise – Please get in touch with [Appellant] and have him make an appointment to see me.

(See R. pp. 162 – 163).

- In Clark’s August 15, 2019 motion, Clark states that Mr. Rosemond “completely failed to respond to this email or produce any responses whatsoever” to Clark’s second set of discovery requests. (*See R. pp. 54 –55*).
- On August 15, 2019, Clark filed a “Motion for Sanctions and to Compel Discovery Responses.” Motion to Compel Discovery Responses from Appellant. (*See id.*).

In sum, Clark filed two (2) motions to compel discovery responses from Appellant.<sup>6</sup> The first of these motions was “resolved” per email from Clark’s counsel because Appellant propounded lengthy responses. (*See R. p. 139*). Clark’s second motion to compel, which also sought sanctions, is the only discovery motion that was heard by the circuit court and the only motion that resulted in a discovery order. (*See R. pp. 52-165; R. pp. 1-3*). Clark’s motion sought sanctions because of Appellant’s purported three-month delay in responding to a deficiency letter sent to Appellant, as well as Appellant’s purported failure to respond to Clark’s second set of discovery requests. (*Id.*).

On October 1, 2019, a hearing was held on Clark’s Motion for Sanctions and Motion to Compel. Mr. Rosemond did not appear at the hearing.<sup>7</sup> After the hearing, counsel for Clark emailed a proposed order to the court and copied all counsel. Mr. Rosemond responded to that email a few hours later at 2:25pm: “The proposal is fine with me.” The circuit court entered an “Order Granting Clark Equipment Company, Inc.’s Motion for Sanctions and To Compel Discovery” the same day. (*See R. pp. 1-3*). The order ordered Appellant:

---

<sup>6</sup> Acme filed none, and does not appear to have served discovery requests on Appellant at any stage of this case.

<sup>7</sup> Mr. Rosemond later filed an explanation for his non-appearance at the October 1, 2019 hearing in his purported, but unauthorized, Motion to Reconsider filed on behalf of Appellant on November 5, 2019. (*See R. pp. 172-178*). It appears Mr. Rosemond had a conversation with counsel for Clark the night before the hearing, had his courthouses confused, and was in Oconee County that day. (*Id.*)

. . . to provide full and complete responses to all outstanding requests set forth in [Clark's] May 16, 2019 deficiency letter and May 16, 2019, second set of discovery requests with (sic) ten (10) days of receipt of entry of this order. If [Appellant] fails to respond as ordered herein, Plaintiff's Complaint in this lawsuit shall be dismissed.

(*Id.*). Approximately one hour after the Court entered its order, Mr. Rosemond's office filed a certificate of service at 4:07 pm on October 1, 2019 certifying it had served its discovery responses on all parties that day via mail. According to Mr. Rosemond, he believed he had complied with the circuit court's October 1, 2019 order and never heard to the contrary until Clark filed notice with the court of Mr. Rosemond's "noncompliance" with the order. (*See R.* pp. 172-178).

On October 18, 2019, Clark filed a "Notice of Plaintiff's Noncompliance with the Court's 10/1/19 Order and Request for Dismissal" in which it stated Appellant "completely failed to comply" with the circuit court's October 1, 2019 order. It acknowledged, however, that one day after the October 1, 2019 order was entered, Clark's counsel "Received by FedEx a packet of documents containing only photocopies of the same documents previously produced on April 2, 2019." Clark concluded that Appellant "has not produced a single document in response to CEC's May 16, 2019 deficiency letter, CEC's May 16, 2019 second set of discovery requests, or the Court's October 1, 2019 order." In response to Clark's filed notice of purported noncompliance, the circuit court entered its Order Dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint with Prejudice as to Clark as well as Acme—without a hearing, argument, or requiring any supporting documentation, testimony, or evidence to support, inform, or verify Clark's representations. (*See R.* pp. 661-664; *R.* pp. 1-3; *R.* pp. 4-6). In the Order, the circuit court explained:

On October 18, 2019, [Clark's] counsel filed a Notice of Noncompliance with the October 1, 2019 Order, asserting that Plaintiff had not produced a single document in response to [Clark's] May 16, 2019 deficiency letter, [Clark's] May 16, 2019 second set of discovery requests, or the Court's October 1, 2019 Order.

The Court finds that Plaintiff has been given ample notice of the discovery deficiencies but has failed to respond thereto. The Court also finds that Plaintiff has not complied with the terms of the October 1, 2019 Order.

(*See R. pp. 4-6*).

According to Mr. Rosemond, however, he endeavored to and believed he had provided all information in his possession as of October 1, 2019; he also alluded to some sort of clerical error that may have occurred in his office regarding the documents mailed to Clark's counsel on October 1, 2019, but also noted the Appellant's complete supplemental responses were emailed to Clark's counsel once Mr. Rosemond was aware of a purported issue after the October 18, 2019 notice was filed by Clark. (*See R. pp. 172-178*).

Notably, none of the above discovery motions, issues, hearings, orders, or otherwise were ever conveyed to Appellant, and all of this occurred without Appellant's knowledge. As set forth in Appellant's affidavit, Appellant's President Brandon McAlister explained that:

- He originally hired Mr. Rosemond in 2018 to file this lawsuit;
- He provided Mr. Rosemond responsive information and documents to the Respondent's discovery requests whenever asked to do so by Mr. Rosemond;
- He was not informed by Mr. Rosemond:
  - o about any discovery issues or lack of responses from Mr. Rosemond's office;
  - o that Respondent(s) filed a motion to compel Appellant's discovery responses;
  - o that a hearing was held on October 1, 2019 on the issue;

- that an order was issued by the circuit court requiring any additional responses within ten (10) days of the hearing.
- that an order was issued dismissing this lawsuit with prejudice.

(See R. pp. 169-171).

Moreover, in his affidavit, Mr. McAlister also explained the timeline and circumstances of his seeking and hiring new counsel at Eller Tonnsen Bach to represent Appellant once he became aware of the circuit court's orders. (*Id.*). After growing "frustrated with the lack of communication from Mr. Rosemond about [the] case in general," Mr. McAlister contacted Eller Tonnsen Bach "on Thursday October 31, 2019 by telephone to seek representation" in this case. (*Id.*). When office staff at Eller Tonnsen Bach looked up this matter while on the phone with Mr. McAlister, they informed him that the public index showed the case was dismissed with prejudice six (6) days earlier (on October 25, 2019). This was the first time Appellant was made aware of the apparent discovery issues, motions, hearing, orders, and dismissal of his case. (*Id.*). In light of this revelation, Mr. McAlister immediately retained Eller Tonnsen Bach over the phone, drove from his home in Seneca to downtown Greenville to meet with Eller Tonnsen Bach, paid a retainer, signed an engagement letter, and agreed that a motion for reconsideration be filed on Appellant's behalf regarding the October 25, 2019 order. (*Id.*).

On November 4, 2019, pursuant to Rules 59 and 60, SCRCF, undersigned counsel appeared for Appellant in the suit and filed a Motion to Reconsider, Amend, or Alter Judgment on behalf of Appellant. (*See R. pp.165-171*). Attached to this motion was the affidavit of Brandon McAlister. (*See R. pp. 168-171*). In this motion, Appellant explained any failure to respond to discovery, court order, or otherwise was no fault of the Appellant, that Appellant's former counsel had failed to

communicate and essentially abandoned Appellant, and sought timely relief from the circuit court's October 25, 2019 order dismissing the complaint with prejudice in light of the change in representation and apparent actions of Appellant's former attorney. (*See* R. pp. 165-171).

On November 5, 2019, Appellant's former attorney Mr. Rosemond filed an unauthorized and untimely "Motion for Reconsideration" purportedly on behalf of Appellant, despite Mr. McAlister terminating Mr. Rosemond's representation and engaging the services of Eller Tonnsen Bach. (*See* R. pp. 172-178). Mr. Rosemond explained in his motion the certain circumstances that led to his absence at the October 1, 2019 hearing. Regarding compliance with the October 1, 2019 order, he stated: "On October 1, 2019, Plaintiff sent Answers to CEC's First Set of Interrogatories and Request (sic) for Production in the United States Mail, accompanied by a Certificate of Service. . . . [Mr.

Rosemond] believed he had complied with the said Order. [Mr. Rosemond] heard nothing from either defendant that it considered the responses deficient until October 18, 2019." (R. pp. 173 – 174). Mr. Rosemond also stated that he "objected to the Court issuing its Order" and that the "parties even exchanged emails that day, attached with what each sent and/or received," and that he "sent [Clark] an email, with an attachment that contained answers thereto of 55 pages. [Clark] *has everything that the Plaintiff has in its possession.*"<sup>8</sup> (R. p. 174) (emphasis added). It appears that Mr. Rosemond's position is that he believed he had complied with the October 1, 2019 order, that he sent Respondents' counsel "everything" he had and not received any notification or

---

<sup>8</sup> Appellant notes that it has been unsuccessful in obtaining any information, documents, emails, or communication from Mr. Rosemond to date and is unsure what documents, emails, or otherwise Mr. Rosemond is referring to in his motion.

alleged deficiency after October 1, 2019. (*Id.*). The Certificate of Service filed by Mr. Rosemond on October 1, 2019 appears to corroborate this. (*See R. p. 656*).

On November 16, 2021, a hearing was held on Appellant’s motion to reconsider. (*See R. 641-655*). At this hearing, undersigned counsel appeared on behalf of Appellant and argued the motion to reconsider; Mr. Rosemond—though no longer Appellant’s attorney—still had his purported motion to reconsider pending, but he did not appear at the hearing. The circuit court denied Appellant’s motion for reconsideration. (*Id.*; *see also R. pp. 7-9*). Appellant filed the instant appeal on December 14, 2021. (*See R. pp. 680-683*).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The circuit court’s order dismissing Appellant’s complaint for purported discovery infractions is subject to an abuse of discretion standard:

“The imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the [c]ircuit [c]ourt.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting *Downey v. Dixon*, 294 S.C. 42, 45, 362 S.E.2d 317, 318 (Ct. App. 1987)). “A [circuit] court’s exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters will be interfered with by the Court of Appeals only if an abuse of discretion has occurred.” *Id.* “The burden is upon the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the [circuit] court abused its discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion may be found whe[n] the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the [circuit] court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Id.*

*Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 456-57, 814 S.E.2d 643, 656 (Ct. App. 2018). Regarding the circuit court’s dismissal of Appellant’s complaint, “[a] dismissal under Rule 37(b)(2)(C)[, SCRC]P is not a mandatory; rather, the trial court is allowed to make such orders as it deems just under the circumstances, and the selection of a sanction is within the

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