RECEIVED
Aug 24 2022
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-23-04516

Appellate Case No. 2021-001461

Ironwork Productions, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Bobcat of Greenville, LLC, and Bobcat Company, Inc., Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CLARK EQUIPMENT COMPANY
(IMPROPERLY NAMED IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION
AND IN THE APPEAL AS BOBCAT COMPANY, INC.)**

Jay T. Thompson (S.C. Bar No. 75030)
Wesley B. Sawyer (S.C. Bar No. 100229)
MURPHY & GRANTLAND, P.A.
4406-B Forest Drive
Columbia, SC 29206
Telephone: (803) 782-4100

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

ARGUMENT

A. THE DENIAL OF APPELLANT’S MOTIONS FOR RECONSIDERATION IS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPEAL BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH RULE 59 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Appellant filed two motions to reconsider. The first motion was served within ten days after entry of the October 25, 2019 Order, making it timely. The second motion was served more than ten days after entry of the October 25, 2019 Order dismissing the case, making it flatly untimely. However, Appellant failed to send either motion to reconsider to the ruling judge as required by Rule 59(g), SCRCF. Therefore, neither motion was properly perfected, and this appeal should be dismissed.

1. Rule 59(e), SCRCF

Rule 59(e), SCRCF provides that a “motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.” South Carolina courts have consistently held that the ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e) is “an absolute deadline.” *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 256, 815 S.E.2d 431, 432 (2018). A trial court does not have the power to alter or amend a final order if more than ten days passes and no Rule 59(e) motion has been served . . .” *Id.* at 256, 815 S.E.2d at 433. “[N]or does a trial court have any power to grant the moving party an extension of

time in which to file a Rule 59(e) motion. *Id.* at 256-57, 815 S.E.2d at 433. “The failure to serve a Rule 59(e) motion within ten days of receipt of notice of entry of the order converts the order into a final judgment, and the aggrieved party’s only recourse is to file a notice of intent to appeal.” *Id.* at 257, 815 S.E.2d at 433.

Appellant’s first motion to alter or amend was filed on November 4, 2019, ten days after the court’s October 25, 2019 Order dismissing Appellant’s Complaint with prejudice. As such, it was timely filed pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. However, Appellant’s second motion for reconsideration was filed on November 5, 2019—eleven days after Appellant was given notice of the October 25, 2019 Order through the NEF notice of the court’s electronic filing system. Therefore, the second motion for reconsideration was untimely filed, and it was proper for the Circuit Court to deny the second motion on this basis alone. *See, e.g., Ackerman v. 3-V Chem., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 212, 216, 562 S.E.2d 613, 615 (2002) (finding that the plaintiffs’ Rule 59(e) motion was untimely when filed more than ten days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order and finding that the “trial judge was without jurisdiction to act upon” the motion for reconsideration).

Therefore, the denial of Appellant’s second motion to alter or amend judgment is not properly preserved for appeal because Appellant failed to comply with Rule 59(e) by serving the motion within ten days of the Order.

2. Rule 59(g), SCRCP

Rule 59(g) requires that a “party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion.” South Carolina courts have denied relief based on a party’s failure to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRCP. For example, in *Smith v. Fedor*, the trial court denied the plaintiff’s motion for

reconsideration because he failed to provide the motion to the trial judge within ten days of filing. 422 S.C. 118, 126, 809 S.E.2d 612, 616 (Ct. App. 2017). The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding “Rule 59(g) would lack any purpose if trial courts committed error by denying the motion for failure to comply with the rule.” *Id.* The *Smith* court also stated that because the trial court did not err in denying the plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration, “the arguments presented in that motion are unpreserved.” *Id.*

Here, neither the first motion to alter or amend nor the second motion for reconsideration were sent to the judge who issued the Order for which reconsideration was requested. (R. p. 644). This was the primary reason that neither motion came before the court for hearing until Appellant’s counsel contacted the court almost *two years* after the motions were filed; Appellant did not properly notify the court. The first notice to the judge came when Appellant’s new counsel emailed the court on October 5, 2021. (R. pp. 677-678). Because neither the first motion to alter or amend nor the second motion for reconsideration complied with Rule 59(g), SCRPC, the denial of both motions was proper, and the matters raised in this appeal are not properly preserved for appellate review.

B. THE ORDER DISMISSING APPELLANT’S COMPLAINT WAS APPROPRIATE GIVEN APPELLANT’S NONCOMPLIANCE WITH DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS, NONCOMPLIANCE WITH THE COURT’S ORDER, AND FAILURE TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING.

Rule 37 expressly grants a circuit court power to order dismissal for either the violation of a court order, or, upon motion, for a party’s failure to respond to certain discovery requests. Rule 37(b)(2)(C) & 37(d), SCRPC. “Under Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRPC, when a party fails to comply with a discovery order, the trial court has the discretion to impose a sanction it deems just, including an order dismissing the action.” *McNair v.*

Fairfield Cty., 379 S.C. 462, 465, 665 S.E.2d 830, 832 (Ct. App. 2008). Rule 37(d) provides that if a party:

fails . . . (2) to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under Rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories, or (3) to serve a written response to a request for inspection submitted under Rule 34, after proper service of the request, the court in which the action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others it may take any action authorized under paragraphs (A), (B), and (C) of subdivision (b)(2) of this rule. . . .

The failure to act described in this subdivision may not be excused on the ground that the discovery sought is objectionable unless the party failing to act has applied for a protective order as provided by Rule 26(c).

Rule 37(d), SCRPC.

Rule 37(b) provides that the court may enter:

(A) An order that the matters regarding which the order was made or any other designated facts shall be taken to be established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the claim of the party obtaining the order;

(B) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated matters in evidence;

(C) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party

Rule 37(b)(2)(A)-(C), SCRPC.

In other words, Rule 37(b) provides sanctions for the violation of a court order to provide or permit discovery, while Rule 37(d) “provides for sanctions against a party who fails to answer interrogatories or attend his own deposition.” *Downey v. Dixon*, 294 S.C.

42, 44, 362 S.E.2d 317, 318, n.1 (Ct. App. 1987). The distinction between Rule 37(b) and Rule 37(d) is that there must be an order of the court before sanctions are imposed under subdivision (b), while under subdivision (d) a party may move directly for the imposition of sanctions. *Id.* Before dismissing a complaint, the court must determine that there is some element of bad faith, willfulness, or gross indifference to the rights of other litigants. *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, 358 S.C. 246, 257, 594 S.E.2d 541, 547 (Ct. App. 2004) (citations omitted).

Appellant's conduct showed bad faith, willfulness, and gross indifference to CEC's rights in ways that were prejudicial to CEC and intensified over time to the point of willfully contravening a direct Order of the Circuit Court. This bad faith, willfulness, and gross indifference appeared in all of the particulars listed below:

- 1. Appellant repeatedly failed to respond to written discovery properly and completely failing to respond at all despite repeated notices.**

Appellant failed to respond to CEC's First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production in time, thus necessitating a Motion to Compel. (R. pp. 196-197; R. pp. 198-220). To avoid a hearing on the Motion to Compel, Appellant waited until the eleventh hour to purportedly provide responses. In reliance on that representation, CEC dismissed its first motion that same evening. (R. p. 221). However, as described above, those responses were actually inadequate and deficient in numerous ways. Despite being given multiple opportunities, Appellant never even attempted to cure the deficiencies. (R. pp. 260-265). As the intensity of Appellant's failures continued to build, Appellant later also failed to respond to CEC's Second Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production in time, thus necessitating a second Motion to Compel. (R. p. 281; R. pp. 285-400). Ultimately, Appellant chose simply to ignore its obligations under the Rules of Civil

Procedure – a willful disobedience to the rules and a gross indifference to CEC’s rights as a litigant.

2. Appellant repeatedly strung CEC along by affirming that Appellant would comply with discovery obligations but then repeatedly failing to do so.

Appellant avoided the first motion hearing by providing deficient responses. Then, Appellant claimed that it would work on responding to the discovery deficiency letter and second set of discovery requests but did not do so, even though Appellant voluntarily established a deadline for itself. (R. pp. 281-282). Then, after not doing anything, Appellant stated two months later that its responses were going out in the mail, but this was not true. (R. p. 281). Then, three weeks after that, Appellant continued its persistence in not responding to yet another correspondence from CEC regarding Appellant’s failure to provide *any* answers to CEC’s discovery requests. (R. p. 284). This practice of delay by empty promises that responses would be forthcoming showed a gross indifference to CEC’s rights in this case and an indifference to the Rules of Civil Procedure.

3. Appellant ignored CEC’s motion for sanctions and failed to file any response.

Even when CEC filed its second motion to compel and its first motion for sanctions, Appellant failed to respond to either motion. Moreover, despite the filing of the motions, Appellant failed to correct the deficiencies in its original discovery responses and failed to respond at all to the second set of discovery.

4. Appellant failed to appear at the hearing on CEC’s motions.

Appellant ignored the court’s notice of hearing and failed to appear at the hearing on CEC’s motion for sanctions and second motion to compel, despite Appellant’s counsel expressly affirming the day before that he would be present. (R. pp. 650-651).

5. Appellant failed to comply with the Court's October 1, 2019 Order.

Appellant failed to comply with the October 1, 2019 Order requiring Appellant to provide full and complete responses to all outstanding requests set forth in CEC's deficiency letter and second set of discovery requests with ten days, despite consenting to the language of the October 1, 2019 Order before it was filed, including the provision stating that Appellant's Complaint would be dismissed if Appellant failed to comply. (R. pp. 404-405; R. pp. 599-602).

Rather than make any legitimate effort to comply with the Order, Appellant merely re-served its previous, deficient responses to the original discovery requests and did not serve any responses to the second discovery requests. Appellant knowingly re-sent photocopies of deficient discovery responses served on another party six months earlier and claimed they were responses to CEC's discovery requests—including audaciously scratching out the name of the counsel for the other party and handwriting in the name of CEC's counsel, thereby calling attention to Appellant's actual knowledge that the responses were being deliberately passed off as something they were not. (R. pp. 407-598).

6. Appellant filed a false certificate of service with the court on October 1, 2019, representing to the court that it served discovery responses that were never served upon CEC.

Appellant filed a certificate of service with the Circuit Court representing that it served discovery responses that were not actually provided.

In summary, the above-described sequence of events and actions illuminates Appellant's bad faith, dilatoriness, and gross indifference to CEC's rights as well as a disregard for both the Rules of Civil Procedure and the Circuit Court's October 1, 2019 Order. Appellant's counsel assured—in writing—on multiple occasions that Appellant

would address all identified deficiencies, even going so far as saying responses would be going in the mail that same day, despite never doing so. (R. p. 281; R. p. 406). To make matters worse, Appellant completely disregarded CEC's second set of discovery requests entirely, not even providing a response to the correspondence regarding those requests. (R. p. 284). This repeated course of evasion and disregard of the CEC's rights as a litigant, Appellant's obligations under the Rules of Civil Procedure, and the Circuit Court's October 1, 2019 Order provide ample support for of the type of bad faith, willfulness, and gross indifference that supports the Circuit Court's discretionary decision to dismiss the case. In sum, the Order dismissing Appellant's Complaint was well within the discretion of the Circuit Court. Therefore, the Order dismissing the action was appropriate pursuant to Rule 37(d)'s authorization for such relief according to Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRCF.

C. APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT IT WAS "ABANDONED" BY ITS ORIGINAL COUNSEL IS INCORRECT AND DOES NOT ENTITLE APPELLANT TO THE REQUESTED RELIEF.

Appellant's claim that its original counsel "abandoned" Appellant and that this alleged abandonment rendered the Circuit Court's sanctions order overly harsh is incorrect. Appellant's original counsel remained involved in the case at all times, including reviewing and consenting to the October 1, 2019 Order and even filing a (late) motion to reconsider.

Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCF, which authorizes the trial court to relieve a party from a final judgment where the party demonstrates "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or *excusable* neglect." (emphasis added). The decision to grant or deny a motion to set aside a judgment for excusable neglect lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. *RRR, Inc. v. Toggas*, 378 S.C. 174, 180, 662 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2008) *cert. granted, decision aff'd*, 381 S.C. 490, 674 S.E.2d 170 (2009). A party's claim of lack of fairness is not a ground for

relief under Rule 60(b), SCRCF. *Gainey v. Gainey*, 382 S.C. 414, 431, 675 S.E.2d 792, 801 (Ct. App. 2009).

Concerning a claim of attorney neglect, South Carolina law holds that “the neglect of the attorney is attributable to the client.” *Graham v. Town of Loris*, 272 S.C. 442, 451, 248 S.E.2d 594, 598 (1978). As the Supreme Court has held:

Although a wide discretion is vested in courts to set aside or vacate judgments because of the neglect, misconduct or inadvertence of counsel employed in the case, the general rule undoubtedly is that the neglect of the attorney is the neglect of the client, and that no mistake, inadvertence or neglect attributable to the attorney can be successfully used as a ground for relief, unless it would have been excusable if attributable to the client. The acts and omissions of the attorney in such case are those of the client.

Id. at 451, 248 S.E.2d at 599 (block quoting *Simon v. Flowers*, 231 S.C. 545, 551, 99 S.E.2d 391, 394 (1957)).

Appellant’s contention that a “willful and unilateral abandonment of the client by counsel” as occurred in *Graham* also occurred in this case is not supported by the facts, and there is no basis to conclude that there was accordingly an abuse of discretion by the Circuit Court in this case. Unlike the present case, *Graham* did not involve a Rule 37 sanction; it was a ruling upon the merits of the case. The circuit court in *Graham* granted the plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment when the defendant’s attorney failed to appear for the motion hearing. *Id.* at 445, 248 S.E.2d at 595. However, the order being appealed was a second order issued by a different circuit judge approximately two weeks later, setting aside under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-27-130 (1976)³ the first order that granted the plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment. *Id.* The primary basis for setting aside the

³ Section 15-27-130 was the predecessor to Rule 60(b), SCRCF.

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